
 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 
 

The Coalition to March on the RNC and 
Stop the War, 
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
 vs. 
 
The City of St. Paul, Minnesota, Mayor 
Chris Coleman, St. Paul Police Chief John 
M. Harrington, Assistant St. Paul Police 
Chief Matthew D. Bostrom 
 
   Defendants. 

Court File No.  ____________________ 
 
 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 
Plaintiff The Coalition to March on the RNC and Stop the War (the “Coalition”) 

alleges as follows: 

SUMMARY OF ACTION 

1. Beginning on September 1, the 2008 Republican National Convention (the 

“Convention”) will be held in Minnesota, located primarily at the Xcel Energy Center in 

downtown St. Paul.  The Convention will attract worldwide media coverage and 

thousands of delegates, campaign workers, lobbyists, and supporters.  The Convention 

also provides an opportunity for groups and individuals to voice their opinions directly to 

the political decision-makers within the Republican Party, the media gathered to cover 

the Convention, and to members of the public watching coverage of the Convention. 

2. This complaint arises from Defendants’ refusal to meaningfully permit the 

Coalition to engage in constitutionally protected free speech activity on the first day of 
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the Convention.  The Coalition has submitted a timely, sufficient application to obtain a 

permit for a parade demonstration (the “March”) on September 1, 2008, the first day of 

the Convention.  Defendants acknowledge that the Coalition has submitted a timely and 

proper application and have “granted” the application.  However, Defendants have not 

granted a permit that authorizes the March planned and requested by the Coalition.  

Defendants have not identified where or when the Coalition will be permitted to 

demonstrate.  Defendants further claim that the Coalition has no right to appeal 

Defendants’ refusal to grant the permit as requested because the St. Paul Police 

Department has issued new rules governing permit applications during the Convention 

that provide for no review until, apparently, Defendants decide to permit it.  

3. In light of the size and importance of the March, the Coalition brings this 

complaint to protect its members’ constitutional rights to engage in speech activity on 

September 1, 2008. 

THE PARTIES 

The Coalition  

4. The Coalition is an unincorporated association of groups and individuals 

with a common interest in organizing and leading a parade demonstration within sight 

and sound of the Xcel Energy Center on the first day of the Convention.  Among the 

groups leading the Coalition are:  Anti-War Committee, AFSCME Local 3800, SDS—

University of Minnesota, Twin Cities Peace Campaign, Welfare Rights Committee, and 

Women Against Military Madness.  Based upon communications with groups around the 

country and the experiences of past conventions, the Coalition reasonably anticipates 
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that, if a permit is granted, its September 1, 2008 march will involve as many as 50,000 

people.  Numerous national groups, including United for Peace and Justice and Code 

Pink, have signed on to the Coalition’s call for a demonstration and have agreed to help 

bring their members to St. Paul for the March. 

5. The Coalition brings this complaint on behalf of its individual members.  

The Coalition has standing to bring this complaint since the members of the Coalition 

would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right, the interests the Coalition seeks 

to protect through this litigation are germane to the purpose of the Coalition, and neither 

the claims asserted here nor the relief requested requires the participation of individual 

members in the lawsuit. 

The City 

6. Defendant City of St. Paul, Minnesota is a municipality organized under the 

laws of the state of Minnesota.  Under St. Paul’s Legislative Code § 366A.10(a), 

applicants for parade permits have the right to appeal the denial of a parade, race or 

public assembly permit to the St. Paul City Council.   

Mayor Coleman 

7. Defendant Chris Coleman is the mayor of the City of St. Paul.  In his 

capacity as mayor, Defendant Coleman exercises supervisory authority, under the color 

of state law, over the enforcement of the Legislative Code of St. Paul.  Defendant 

Coleman also exercises supervisory authority, under the color of state law, over the St. 

Paul Police Department.  Defendant Coleman is sued both in his individual and official 

capacities. 
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Chief Harrington 

8. Defendant Harrington is the chief of the St. Paul Police Department.  In his 

capacity as chief, Defendant Harrington exercises supervisory authority, under the color 

of state law, over the enforcement of the Legislative Code of St. Paul and over the St. 

Paul Police Department.  Defendant Harrington is sued both in his individual and official 

capacities. 

Assistant Chief Bostrom 

9. Defendant Bostrom is an assistant chief of the St. Paul Police Department.  

Upon information and belief, Mr. Bostrom has been assigned principal authority over the 

St. Paul Police Department’s management of the Convention.  In his capacity as assistant 

chief, Defendant Bostrom exercises supervisory authority, under the color of state law, 

over the enforcement of the Legislative Code of St. Paul and over the St. Paul Police 

Department.  Defendant Bostrom is sued both in his individual and official capacities. 

10. The acts and omissions of all Defendants in depriving the Coalition and its 

members of their rights secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States have 

been taken under color of state law or ordinance and the individual Defendants acted 

within the scope of their employment. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. This action arises under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the United States 

Constitution.  This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 28 U.S.C. § 

1343(a)(3)-(4). 
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12. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because a 

substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims asserted herein 

occurred in this District and because Defendants are subject to personal jurisdiction in 

this District. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

13. The Anti-War Committee, one of the groups involved in organizing the 

Coalition, first applied for a permit to march during the Convention in 2006, shortly after 

it was announced that St. Paul would host the Convention.  Despite the benefits to all 

parties of planning details of this large-scale event well in advance, the City of St. Paul 

refused to act on the permit application and stated that permits would not be accepted 

until 180 days prior to the Convention, citing St. Paul Legislative Code § 366A.04. 

14. On November 1, 2007, the Coalition properly submitted an application to 

conduct a recurring march and demonstration in downtown St. Paul on a series of dates, 

the last of which is September 1, 2008.  After negotiations, Defendants ultimately 

approved the material details of all of the dates other than September 1, 2008 (the March) 

and only that date is presently before the Court. 

15. The purpose of the March is to provide members of the Coalition the 

opportunity to express opposition to the policies of the Republican Party, opposition to 

the military occupation of Iraq and to advocate in favor of money for human needs and 

not for war.  The Coalition’s speech activity is targeted to reach the audience of the 

Republican Party as well as the broader audience that can be reached through the 

worldwide media assembled to cover the Convention.   
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16. The Coalition’s November 1, 2007 application for a series of events 

including the March was properly submitted pursuant to St. Paul Legislative Code § 

366A.04(c). 

17. The Coalition’s application requested a permit for a march in which 

participants would assemble at the Minnesota State Capitol and march downhill, around 

the Xcel Energy Center, and then return to the Capitol.  The Coalition specifically 

requested permits to march along John Ireland Boulevard to Kellogg Boulevard, around 

the Xcel Center on Washington Street and West 5th Street, then back on Kellogg 

Boulevard to the Capitol.  

18. Because the March planned by the Coalition will both begin and end at the 

State Capitol, the Coalition also applied to the Plant Management Division of the 

Minnesota Department of Administration (“PMD”), which is responsible for issuing 

permits for events held on State Capitol grounds.  PMD initially refused to either grant or 

deny the Coalition’s permit application, stating that permits for the period of the 

Convention would only be issued on the same schedule the City of St. Paul chose to 

follow in considering permits. 

19. The Coalition notified PMD that its refusal to consider the Coalition’s 

permit application violated PMD’s own policies.  The Coalition met and negotiated with 

PMD and, after negotiation, PMD ultimately approved the Coalition’s application on 

January 11, 2008.  The Coalition has therefore secured both the starting and ending points 

for its September 1, 2008 March and only the streets upon which the March will be 

allowed to proceed remain at issue. 
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20. Beginning with its November 1, 2007 application and continuing for 

months, the Coalition met and negotiated with the St. Paul Police Department and City 

Attorney’s Office.  The Coalition answered questions and provided additional 

information about the March and expressed its interest – given the size and importance of 

this event and the complexities of organizing a march involving tens of thousands of 

people – in working out the details of the March with Defendants as far in advance as 

possible. 

21. During a meeting between Coalition legal representatives and 

representatives of the St. Paul Police Department and City Attorney’s Office on January 

17, 2008, the parties discussed the Coalition’s planned March route at length.  Defendants 

represented that they could not yet approve the Coalition’s entire requested route, but that 

it made sense to approve those portions of the route that could be granted at that time and 

that they could readily agree to grant “three sides of the square” – marching on the 

requested date, September 1, 2008, marching down to the Xcel Center from and returning 

to the State Capitol, and marching within sight and sound of the Xcel Center.  Defendants 

represented that the only remaining issue was on which specific streets in the immediate 

vicinity of the Xcel Center the Coalition would be permitted to march. 

22. Defendants and the Coalition’s legal representatives agreed that the 

Coalition would submit a proposed agreement (the “Proposed Agreement”) for the 

March, which would memorialize the three sides of the square upon which the parties 

agreed.  On January 25, 2008, the Coalition provided Defendants with its Proposed 

Agreement. 
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23. Defendants did not, however, provide “three sides of the square.”  On 

February 8, 2008, the City Attorney’s Office responded to the Coalition’s Proposed 

Agreement by providing a draft of “Guidelines Regarding Issuance of Permits to Conduct 

Parades Pursuant to Section 366A of the St. Paul Legislative Code in Certain Areas of the 

City of St. Paul, Minnesota on September 1, 2008” (the “Guidelines”).  The Guidelines 

purport to provide that no permits for the “Parade Staging Area” and “Secondary Event 

Area” (defined terms collectively including all of the area surrounding the Xcel Center in 

which the March would pass) would be approved prior to March 1, 2008, and that 

specific parade routes in the immediate vicinity of the Xcel Center would not be 

approved until “no later than May 31, 2008.” 

24. Attorneys for the Coalition expressed concern to Defendants that the 

Guidelines appeared to materially alter the agreement the Coalition believed it was 

reaching with Defendants.  Defendants attempted to assuage those concerns by 

representing that, under the Guidelines, Defendants would provide the Coalition with 

some sort of document on or around March 1, 2008 which would secure the Coalition’s 

free speech rights by guaranteeing that the Coalition would be permitted to march from 

the Capitol to the Xcel Center on the first day of the Convention.  Defendants made oral 

representations that this march route would be within sight and sound of the Xcel Center.   

25. On February 14, 2008, Attorneys for the Coalition sent a letter setting out 

their understanding of the City’s representations in an effort to memorialize their 

conversations. The letter also stated that the Coalition’s comments on the Draft 

Guidelines would be forthcoming.  The City responded to the letter on February 19, 
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2008.  On February 29, Defendants finalized and issued Guidelines before receiving 

comments from the Coalition. 

26. The Guidelines issued by the St. Paul Police Department materially 

contradict St. Paul’s Legislative Code.  For example, under Legislative Code § 

366A.08(a) the St. Paul Chief of Police must “act promptly upon a timely filed 

application” and “Applications filed more than sixty (60) days in advance of the proposed 

event shall be processed within twenty-one days.”  However, under the Guidelines, no 

applications were processed prior to March 1, 2008, including the Coalition’s permit 

application which had been timely filed on November 1, 2007.  In addition, under the 

Guidelines, the St. Paul Police Department has given itself (apparently) free rein to 

choose the specific march route the Coalition will be granted and has until May 31, 2008 

to do so.  Moreover, the Guidelines specify that details, including the May 31, 2008 date 

for providing additional information, are subject to change at the whim of the St. Paul 

Police Chief when the St. Paul Police Department subjectively determines it is 

“necessary.”  The Legislative Code § 366.09(a) also allows the provision of alternate 

routes, but states that such alternate routes may be approved “in denying an application 

for a parade, race or public assembly permit” and provides for an applicant’s right to 

either accept or challenge the alternate route.   

27. On March 1, 2008, the St. Paul Police Department issued a “Conditional 

Alternative Permit” to the Coalition, permit number 08-032.  The Conditional Alternative 

Permit grants a permit for the Coalition to conduct an event involving between 3 and 

100,000 persons on September 1, 2008, but provides no march route at all.  The 
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Conditional Alternative Permit does not even provide a “dispersal location” for the 

March, even though the Coalition already has a permit and will be staging an all-day rally 

at the State Capitol and has plainly requested a permit to march to and from the Capitol. 

28. The Coalition recognized that the Alternative Permit fails to provide “three 

sides of the square” and that Defendants have failed to grant the March route the 

Coalition requested in its permit application.  On March 6, 2008, the Coalition filed 

Notice of Appeal to the St. Paul City Council pursuant to Legislative Code § 366A.10(a): 

Any applicant shall have the right to appeal the denial of a parade, race or 
public assembly permit to the city council.  The denied applicant shall 
make the appeal within five (5) days after receipt of the denial by filing a 
written notice with the chief of police and a copy of the notice with the city 
clerk.  The city council shall act upon the appeal at the next scheduled 
meeting following receipt of the notice of appeal. 

29. Although the Coalition complied with Legislative Code § 366A.10(a), 

Defendants refused to acknowledge the Coalition’s appeal and the City Counsel failed to 

consider the Coalition’s appeal at its next meeting.  St. Paul City Attorney John J. Choi 

sent a letter to the Coalition dated March 7, 2008, stating that “your appeal is premature 

and therefore will not be considered by the City Council at this time.”  Mr. Choi 

explained this refusal to provide appellate review of Defendants’ decision by stating that 

“The Conditional Alternative Permit is not intended to serve as an actual or final permit 

as contemplated under, and typically issued pursuant to, Section 366A of the Code.”  Mr. 

Choi further stated that “[T]he Conditional Alternative Permit is not a denial of the 

Coalition’s permit application submitted to the SPPD on November 1, 2007. . .”  Based 

on this logic – that the Conditional Alternative Permit was neither a “permit” nor a 
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“denial,” Mr. Choi reasoned that “As there was no denial of the Permit Application, the 

Coalition has improperly attempted to bring an appeal before the City Council at this 

time.” 

30. The Coalition does not accept the notion that its permit application has not 

been granted (at least not as an “actual” permit according to Mr. Choi), has not been 

denied, and that the Coalition has no right to appeal.  The Coalition furthermore 

challenges the constitutionality of the Guidelines upon which Defendants have relied in 

failing to act upon the Coalition’s application for four months, then acting without 

providing any march route, time, or certainty that the Coalition will be permitted to stage 

the March. 

31. The Coalition has no adequate remedy at law because denial of the 

Coalition’s fundamental constitutional rights protected by the First and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution cannot be remedied by legal relief.  Unless 

enjoined by the Court, Defendants will continue to refuse to grant the Coalition a permit 

to conduct its properly-requested free speech activity. 

32. The Coalition’s planning activities have been prejudiced by the City’s 

actions and inactions.  Defendants’ failure to meaningfully guarantee that the Coalition 

will be permitted to exercise its free speech rights has made the task of planning and 

paying for the costs associated with the March substantially more difficult. 
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COUNT I 

(Violation of Freedom of Speech – U.S. Constitution, First Amendment) 

33. Plaintiff restates and realleges all prior paragraphs in this Complaint as 

though fully set forth herein. 

34. Defendants’ refusal to meaningfully grant or deny a permit for the 

Coalition’s March constitutes a violation of the rights to free speech, petition, and 

assembly guaranteed by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

35. The permitting system employed by Defendants confers unbridled 

discretion upon the St. Paul Police Department and it is not narrowly tailored to serve a 

significant government interest. 

36. The “Guidelines” issued by the St. Paul Police Department are 

unconstitutional on their face and as applied to the Coalition, in violation of the First 

Amendment. 

37. The Coalition has the right to seek redress for violation of its First 

Amendment rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

COUNT II 

(Violation of Due Process – U.S. Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment) 

38. Plaintiffs restate and reallege all prior paragraphs in this Complaint as 

though fully set forth herein. 

39. Defendants’ refusal to meaningfully grant or deny a permit for the 

Coalition’s March and the St. Paul Police Department’s promulgation of Guidelines that 

will defer any meaningful decision on the Coalition’s application until May 31, 2008 or 
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later effectively denies the Coalition the ability to seek judicial review of Defendants’ 

ultimate decision about the specific elements of the March, in violation of the Due 

Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

40. The Guidelines were promulgated without proper authority.  The 

Guidelines conflict with the St. Paul Legislative Code and will impose additional burdens 

on speech activities not authorized by the St. Paul Legislative Code, in violation of the 

Due Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  

41. The Coalition has the right to seek redress for violation of its due process 

rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

WHEREFORE, the Coalition requests judgment in its favor and against 

Defendants and that the Court: 

a. Issue a declaratory judgment that the Defendants have violated the 

rights of the Coalition under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 

b. Issue an injunction ordering Defendants to alter their permitting 

“Guidelines” for the period of the Convention such that permit applications 

are timely granted or denied and that timely review is available where 

permit applications are denied; 

c. Issue an injunction enjoining enforcement of the Guidelines to the 

extent such enforcement is inconsistent with the Legislative Code of St. 

Paul or the United States Constitution; 
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d. Issue an injunction ordering Defendants to grant the Coalition’s 

permit application. 

e. Order Defendants to pay the Coalition its reasonable costs and 

attorney fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

f. Grant such other relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Plaintiff demands trial by jury under Fed. R. Civ. P. 38 on all issues so triable. 

 
Dated:  March 24, 2008. OPPENHEIMER WOLFF & DONNELLY LLP 

 
 
By: s:/  David B. Potter__________________ 
 David B. Potter                   # 121642        
 Aaron Mills Scott            # 33943X 
3300 Plaza VII Building 
45 South Seventh Street 
Minneapolis, MN  55402 
Telephone:  (612) 607-7000 
Facsimile:  (612) 607-7100 
 

 

 DE LEON & NESTOR 
 
 Bruce D. Nestor                   # 318024        
3547 Cedar Avenue South 
Minneapolis, MN 55407 
Telephone:  (612) 659-9019 
Facsimile:  (612) 436-3664 
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